IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

LUTHER WAYNE SHEFFIELD

APPELLANT

V.

NO. 2009-KA-1635-COA **T**

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

The undersigned counsel of record certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the justices of this court may evaluate possible disqualifications or recusal.

1. State of Mississippi
2. Luther Wayne Sheffield, Appellant
3. Honorable E.J. (Bilbo) Mitchell, District Attorney
4. Honorable Robert W. Bailey, Circuit Court Judge

This the 12 day of April, 2010.

Respectfully Submitted,

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

ISSUE NO. 1

THE COURT ERRED IN NOT GRANTING A LESSER INCLUDED SIMPLE ASSAULT INSTRUCTION AS REQUESTED BY THE DEFENDANT AT THE TRIAL, I.E. INSTRUCTIONS D-3.

ISSUE NO. 2

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING LUTHER SHEFFIELD'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL BECAUSE THE VERDICT WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of Lauderdale County, Mississippi, and a judgment of conviction for the crime of lustful touching of a child against the appellant, Luther Sheffield. The trial judge subsequently sentenced the Appellant to serve 15 years with the Mississippi Department of Corrections of which five years will be suspended. The conviction and sentence followed a jury trial on August 5-6, 2009, Honorable Robert W. Bailey, Circuit Judge, presiding. Luther Sheffield is currently in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

FACTS

February 23, 2008, Breanna Sheffield and Heather Johnson were at the Sheffield home watching a movie. Luther Sheffield, suggested that he drive the girls to a relatives house to pick up some games for them to play. As Mr. Sheffield entered the room he kissed Breanna on the cheek, lips, and neck. (Tr. 69). Upon exiting the room Mr. Sheffield grabbed Breanna's behind. (Tr. 71). Breanna asked Mr. Sheffield if she could drive and he agreed. All four of them, Breanna, Heather, Brad, and Mr. Sheffield proceed to the relatives home in a red Contour passenger car. (Tr. 71). Breanna and Mr. Sheffield were in the front while Heather and Brad were seated in the back of the vehicle. Mr. Sheffield had Breanna pull into a gas station to change drivers as he did not want her driving in a certain area. Breanna testified that nothing inappropriate occurred during the ride to her relative home. (Tr. 73). Breanna testified on the ride home that Mr. Sheffield

rubbed her thigh. (Tr. 74). Heather Johnson decided herself that the comments and affection showed by Mr. Sheffield were inappropriate and she decided to inform a deputy at her school. On the Monday following the alleged incident, Heath and Brad gave notes to the Deputy regarding what they felt was inappropriate behavior. Breanna was called into the office to answer questions from the deputy. (Tr. 76). At first Breanna said there was nothing wrong, it wasn't until she was told that Heather and Brad has said something was wrong that she changed her story. (Tr. 77-78). Breanna went further to testify that the only time her father had touched her breast was when she was hurt. He checked to make sure there were no lumps. (Tr. 78). Breanna also testified that Mr. Sheffield never attempted to touch her under her clothing. At no time did Mr. Sheffield tell Breanna that she shouldn't talk about his action. (Tr. 84)

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Court erred in refusing and not allowing the jury instruction offered by the Defendant, D-3 regarding the lesser included unlawful touching of simple assault. Luther Sheffield requested and was denied a lesser included offense on Count I which charged Sheffield under **Mississippi Code Annotated** Section 97-5-23(1) (1972) with the touching of a child for lustful purposes on or before February 23, 2008. The testimony of Breanna was that Mr. Sheffield would kiss her on the neck and cheek. Further, Mr. Sheffield would rub her thigh and pinch her behind. D-3, touching for lustful purpose with the lesser included offense of simple assault instruction, was refused. The court

denied the instruction because of a lack of imminent fear of serious bodily injury. This is not the standard for determining whether a lesser included instruction should be granted and the court erred in refusing to grant the instruction.

Further, the evidence was insufficient to support the verdict of guilty. It is elementary that the defendant enters the courtroom cloaked with the presumption of innocence and the State with the weight of the burden of proof. That burden never shifts from the state. *Brown v. State*, 556 So.2d 338, 340 (Miss. 1990). In the present case, the testimony was insufficient under the law to convict Luther Sheffield, especially in light of the Court's refusal to instruct the jury regarding the lesser included offense. The state clearly failed to meet its burden of proof with regards to the element regarding "for the purpose of gratifying his lust."

ARGUMENT

ISSUE NO. 1

THE COURT ERRED IN NOT GRANTING A LESSER INCLUDED SIMPLE ASSAULT INSTRUCTION AS REQUESTED BY THE DEFENDANT AT THE TRIAL, I.E. INSTRUCTIONS D-3.

Luther Sheffield requested and was denied a lesser included offense on Count 1 which charged Sheffield under **Mississippi Code Annotated** Section 97-5-23(1) (1972) with the touching of a child for lustful purposes on or before February 23, 2008. The testimony of Breanna, Heather, and Brad was that Mr. Sheffield was inappropriately kissing Breanna and touching her inner thigh during a trip home from a relatives house.

D-3, touching for a lustful purpose with the lesser included offense of simple assault instruction, was refused. (Tr. 185) The court denied the instruction because there was no evidence of imminent fear or serious bodily injury. (Tr. 185)

Lesser included offense instructions should be given. *Perry v. State*, 637 So.2d 871 (Miss. 1994) “A lesser included offense instruction should be given on request, ‘if a “rational” or a “reasonable” jury could find the defendant not guilty of the principal offense charged in the indictment yet guilty of the lesser included offense.” *Mease v. State*, 539 So.2d 1324, 1329-30 (Miss. 1989).

The test for presenting a lesser-included jury instruction was set out in *Harveston v. State*, 493 So. 2d 365 (Miss. 1986):

We recognize in certain cases, as a matter of trial strategy, defense counsel may wish to have the case put to the jury on all or nothing bases, the jury’s alternatives being to find the defendant guilty as charged in the indictment or acquitted. Our law, however, allows the prosecution to request and obtain lesser-included offense instructions, as it does the defense. The test for whether such an instruction should be granted is the same: is it warranted by the evidence? Where the answer is affirmative, the defendant has no right to complain of the circuit court’s submission to the jury of a properly phrased lesser-included offense instruction, either at the request of the prosecution or on its own motion.

See Cole v. State, 405 So.2d 910, 913 (Miss. 1981); *Jackson v. State*, 337 So.2d 1242, 1255 (Miss. 1976); *Dover v. State*, 227 So.2d 296, 301 (Miss. 1969); *Huffman v. State*, 192 Miss. 375, 378, 6 So.2d 124, 125 (1942). 493 So.2d at 375.

The test was further clarified by *Harper v. State*, 478 So.2d 1017 (Miss. 1985):

[A] lesser included offense instruction should be granted unless the trial judge-and ultimately this Court – can say, taking the evidence in the light most favorable to the accused, and considering all favorable inferences which may be drawn in favor of the accused from the evidence, that no reasonable jury could find the defendant guilty of the lesser included offense (and conversely not guilty of at least one essential element of the principal charge). 478 So.2d at 1021.

Here the defendant requested the lesser included offense instruction of simple assault. The evidence was such that the jury could have found that Sheffield's rubbing of the thigh and kissing of the neck was merely an assault and not a touching for lustful purposes. Clearly simple assault is a lesser included offense of touch a child for lustful purposes. The missing element is the purpose of the touching.

The fact that the state and the Court believed that there was no imminent fear or serious bodily injury is irrelevant on these facts. A defendant is entitled to instructions that have any foundation in the facts and are correct statement of the law.

This error requires reversal of Luther Sheffield's conviction.

ISSUE NO. 2

THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING LUTHER SHEFFIELD'S MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAL BECAUSE THE VERDICT WAS AGAINST THE OVERWHELMING WEIGHT OF THE EVIDENCE.

“When reviewing a denial of a motion for a new trial based on an objection to the weight of the evidence, we will only disturb a verdict when it is so contrary to the

overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice.” *Bush v. State*, 895 So.2d 836, 844 (Miss. 2005)(citing *Herring v. State*, 691 So.2d 948, 957 (Miss.1997)). In reviewing such claims, the Court “sits as a thirteenth juror.” *Bush v. State*, 895 So.2d 836, 844 (Miss. 2005)(citing *Amiker v. Drugs For Less, Inc.*, 796 So.2d 942, 947 (Miss.2000)(footnote omitted)).

“[T]he evidence should be weighed in the light most favorable to the verdict.” *Herring*, 691 So.2d at 957. “A reversal on the grounds that the verdict was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence, ‘unlike a reversal based on insufficient evidence, does not mean that acquittal was the only proper verdict.’” *Bush v. State*, 895 So.2d 836, 844 (Miss. 2005)(quoting *McQueen v. State*, 423 So.2d 800, 803 (Miss.1982)). It means that “as the ‘thirteenth juror,’ the court simply disagrees with the jury’s resolution of the conflicting testimony,” and “the proper remedy is to grant a new trial.” *Bush v. State*, 895 So.2d 836, 844 (Miss. 2005)(quoting *McQueen v. State*, 423 So.2d 800, 803 (Miss.1982)(footnote omitted)).

Here the defendant was charged with the touching of a child for lustful purposes. The evidence presented against him was taken out of context as was done during these proceedings may be misunderstood for a violation of the law. However when viewed at the time all alleged actions took place neither the victim nor her mother felt the actions were inappropriate.

The victim's mother stated that Mr. Sheffield would lay down with his daughter, all piled up in the bed. (Tr. 113). He would rub her thigh, rub her hair and the mother at the time did not think that the behavior was inappropriate. *Id.*