IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

LUTHER SHEFFIELD

VS.

.

5

APPELLANT

NO. 2009-KA-1635-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEE

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: BILLY L. GORE SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

•

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

ISSUE NO. 1. Jury instruction D-3, a lesser offense instruction authorizing the jury to find Sheffield guilty of simple assault, was properly refused because it lacked evidentiary support. Goodnite v. State, 799 So.2d 64, 69 (¶27) (Miss. 2001)["We hold that the evidence did not support an instruction for simple assault."]

ISSUE NO. 2. Accepting as true the testimony proffered by the State, together with all reasonable inferences to be drawn therefrom, it is clear there was sufficient testimony from the victim and other witnesses the repeated touching by Sheffield was for the purpose of, *inter alia*,

gratifying his lust.

Nor was the verdict of the jury against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. The jury was properly instructed it was "... the sole judges of the facts in this case [and its] exclusive province is to determine what weight and what credibility will be assigned the testimony and supporting evidence of each witness in this case." (C.P. at 33)

The testimony of Breanna Sheffield, standing alone, was not outweighed by Sheffield's evidence because he introduced no evidence. Breanna's credibility, of course, was a question for the jury.

In Crawford v. State, 754 So.2d 1211, 1222 (Miss. 2000), this Court stated:

"[O]ur case law clearly holds that the unsupported word of the victim of a sex crime is sufficient to support a guilty verdict where that testimony is not discredited or contradicted by other credible evidence, especially if the conduct of the victim is consistent with the conduct of one who has been victimized by a sex crime." [numerous citations omitted]

It was not discredited, and it was consistent as well as corroborated. *See also* **McDonald v. State**, 816 So.2d 1032 (Ct.App.Miss. 2002).

Corroboration of Breanna's testimony was provided by her friends, Heather Johnson, Brad

McNair, and Caitlyn Douglas.

Quite frankly, the question of guilt or innocence is not even close.

Sheffield points to certain inconsistencies in the testimony, e.g., (1) he never attempted to

touch Breanna underneath her clothing; (2) at no time was Breanna instructed by her father not to

talk about his behavior, and (3) Breanna's mother, Kandi, did not think Sheffield's behavior was

inappropriate. (Brief of the Appellant at 8)

Somewhat similar arguments were made and rejected in Collier v. State, 711 So.2d 458,

462 (Miss. 1998), where we find the following:

"We are asked to reverse this case on the grounds that there are inconsistencies and contradictions in her testimony. If this be true, it would still be a question for the jury." *Blade*, 240 Miss. at 188, 126 So.2d at 280; *e.g. Allman*, 571 So.2d at 253. In the instant case, any inconsistencies found in C.H.'s testimony go [to] the weight and credibility of her testimony, clearly a jury question. In addition, C.H.'s testimony was not at all inconsistent on the issue at the heart of this matter - Collier's fondling of her. This contention is without merit.

It is well settled that "[t]he jury has the duty to determine the impeachment value of

inconsistencies or contradictions as well as testimonial defects of perception, memory and sincerity."

Jones v. State, 381 So.2d 983, 989 (Miss. 1990). See also Hill v. State, 199 Miss. 254, 24 So.2d

737 (1946).

ARGUMENT

ISSUE NO. 1.

THE TRIAL JUDGE DID NOT ERR IN DENYING JURY INSTRUCTION D-3 BECAUSE THE EVIDENCE DID NOT SUPPORT AN INSTRUCTION FOR SIMPLE ASSAULT.

Sheffield contends the trial judge erred in denying jury instruction D-3 which reads, in its

entirety, as follows:

The court instructs the jury that if the State of Mississippi has failed to prove any one or more of the elements of the offense of lustful touching beyond a reasonable doubt, then you must find the Defendant not guilty of lustful touching. If you find the Defendant not guilty of lustful touching, you may continue your deliberations to determine whether or not the Defendant is guilty of simple assault.

If you find from the evidence in this case beyond a reasonable doubt that:

1. On or about February 23, 2008[,] in Lauderdale County, Mississippi;

2. The Defendant, Luther Sheffield, did attempt by physical menace to put Breanna Sheffield in fear of imminent serious bodily harm;

Then you shall find the Defendant guilty of simple assault.

If you find that the State of Mississippi has failed to prove any one or more of the elements of simple assault beyond a reasonable doubt, you must find the Defendant not guilty of simple assault. (C.P. at 35)

The trial judge did not err in denying D-3 on the ground it lacked evidentiary support.

BY THE COURT: All right. I agree with the State. I don't think there's any evidence to support this instruction. And it's certainly not a lesser and included offense, but primarily there's just no evidence to support the instruction; so I'm going to refuse it which means the form of the verdict will be refused, D-4. Which brings us back to S-2, form of the verdict. * * * (R. 185)

A handwritten notation apparently penned by the circuit judge is present at the bottom of D-3.

It reads as follows: "No evidence to support this instruction. This is not a lesser included offense."

(C.P. at 35)

According to Sheffield, "[t]he evidence was such that the jury could have found that

Sheffield's rubbing of the thigh and kissing of the neck was merely an assault and not a touching for

lustful purposes." (Brief of the Appellant at 6)

This issue is controlled by the following language found in Goodnite v. State, supra, 799

So.2d at 68, 69 (¶ 20, 24, 25), an appeal from convictions of fondling and sexual battery where a

similar issue was addressed by the Supreme Court:

Goodnite asserts that it was error for the trial court to refuse proffered instruction D-6 which provided for a lesser-included offense of simple assault. * * * Our law is well-settled that jury instructions are not given unless there is an evidentiary basis in the record for such. *Turner v. State*, 732 So.2d 937 (Miss. 1999). This Court has also held that instructions must be warranted by the evidence and should not be indiscriminately granted. *Mease v. State*, 539 So.2d 1324, 1330 (Miss. 1989). To warrant the lesser included offense instruction, a defendant must point to some evidence in the record from which a jury could reasonably find him not guilty of the crime with which he was charged and at the same time find him guilty of a lesser-included offense. *Toliver v. State*, 600 So.2d 186, 192 (Miss. 1992).

Applying the test provided in *Harper*, to the evidence before the jury, we conclude that this argument is without merit. *Id.* at 1021. Even if the jury could conclude that Goodnite pinched C.E. between the legs, that **none of the evidence appears to have warranted finding Goodnite guilty of simple assault which involves an attempt to cause bodily harm.**

* * * * * *

* * * This Court must make a determination of whether the evidence in the record is such that a fair-minded juror could harbor a reasonable doubt whether the pinch was for something other than a lustful purpose.

C. E.'s testimony indicated that Goodnite attempted and succeeded in pinching her in her "private parts." We conclude that a reasonable jury viewing the evidence favorable to Goodnite could not harbor a doubt that the pinch was for anything else other than a lustful purpose. We hold that the evidence did not support an instruction for simple assault. [emphasis ours]

The same is true here.

While there is testimony that Sheffield grabbed and slapped Breanna's behind, rubbed her

thigh, and kissed her neck (Brief of the Appellant at 6), none of this behavior can be reasonably

related to four (4) of the elements recited in instruction D-3, viz,. "(1) fear of (2) imminent (3)

serious (4) bodily harm."

Assuming Sheffield's behavior amounted to "physical menace," there is no evidence that

Breanna actually feared bodily harm or even if she did that the "bodily harm" was "serious" as well as "imminent." It was true in **Goodnite**, and it is equally true here, "... that [no] fair-minded juror could harbor a reasonable doubt whether the [defendant's acts] were for something other than a lustful purpose." *Id.*, 799 So.2d at 69.

It was also true in **Goodnite** and, again, it is equally true here, "... that none of the evidence appears to have warranted finding Goodnite guilty of simple assault which involves an attempt to cause bodily harm."

This Court should "... hold that the evidence did not support an instruction for simple assault." **Goodnite**, 799 So.2d at 69.

The denial of D-3 was not error.

ISSUE NO. 2.

ACCEPTING AS TRUE THE TESTIMONY OF THE WITNESSES FOR THE STATE, TOGETHER WITH ALL REASONABLE INFERENCES TO BE DRAWN THEREFROM, THERE WAS AMPLE EVIDENCE OF SUFFICIENT WEIGHT AND CHARACTER TO PROVE THE OFFENSE OF FONDLING BEYOND A REASONABLE DOUBT.

The essential elements of fondling are found in Brady v. State, 722 So.2d 151, 159 (¶32)

(Ct.App. 1998), as follows:

Thus, the elements of fondling or unlawful touching are:

1) a handling or touching or rubbing with *any* part of the assailant's body or any member thereof,

2) of a child under the age of 14 years

3) by a person above the age of 18 years

4) for the purposes of gratifying the lust or indulging

licentious sexual desires of the assailant.

By virtue of a subsequent amendment in 1998 to Miss.Code Ann. §97-5-23(1), the crime is complete if the child is "under the age of 16 years." *See also* **Weathersby v. State**, 919 So.2d 1146 (Miss. 2005).

The jury was properly instructed that in order to convict it had to find from the evidence beyond a reasonable doubt "... that Luther W. Sheffield, Jr., a male person over the age of eighteen (18) years, did wilfully and unlawfully touch or rub with his hands or some other part of his body the person of Breanna Sheffield, a child under the age of 16 years; [f]or the purpose of gratifying his lust or indulging his depraved licentious sexual desires; ..." (Jury instruction S-1 at C.P. 27)

The testimony of Breanna and her three friends satisfies the first element. There can be no mistake about the handling, touching, and rubbing by Sheffield of various parts of Breanna's anatomy.

The testimony of both Breanna and her mother satisfies the second element that Breanna was under 16 years of age at the time of the contact which had been going on for several years. (R. 67, 111)

The testimony of Kandi Sheffield that her husband was born on September 5, 1973, satisfies the third element that the offender be above the age of 18 years. (R. 111-12)

Finally, the testimony of Breanna and her three friends satisfies the fourth element which requires a touching for the purpose gratification of Sheffield's lust and/or indulgence in a licentious sexual desire. A fair and accurate summary of Breanna's testimony is found in the second paragraph of this brief as well as our Statement of Facts. We respectfully decline to plow that ground again here.

A reasonable, fair-minded juror could have found beyond a reasonable doubt the defendant's

behavior toward his teenage daughter went far beyond innocent and or "prankish" touching or affectionate behavior. Stated differently, the contact was much more than affectionate, lawful caresses of a child. *See e.g.*, **Foxworth v. State**, 982 So.2d 453 (Ct.App.Miss. 2007). Breanna and her friends were well aware the touching was inappropriate even for a father/daughter relationship. An intent to gratify his lust could easily be inferred from the defendant's actions. *See* **Donald v. State**, 976 So.2d 942 (Ct.App.Miss. 2007).

This is not a typical case of "He said! She said!" because the "He" involved in this case never "said." Rather, Sheffield's conviction of fondling rests entirely upon the testimony of Breanna and the corroborating testimony elicited from three of her friends, Heather Johnson, Brad McNair, and Caitlyn Douglas, each of whom were ear and eyewitnesses, at least in part, to the defendant's behavior.

Although perhaps blurring the distinction between "weight" and "sufficiency," Sheffield opines that the trial judge erred in denying his motion for a new trial because the verdict of the jury was against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. (Brief of Appellant at ii, 1, 6)

The gist of Sheffield's complaint is that "[t]he evidence presented against him was taken out of context as was done during these proceedings may be misunderstood for a violation of the law" because, *inter alia*, "... neither the victim nor her mother felt the actions [of the defendant] were inappropriate." (Brief of the Appellant at 7)

Sheffield argues "[t]he actions of Mr. Sheffield, which might have been excessive, show to be that of an overly affectionate father, not for the purpose of gratifying lust." (Brief of the Appellant at 8)

The jury, of course, found otherwise as was its exclusive prerogative.

The rules of law governing the standards of appellate review for both "weight" and

"sufficiency" are found in **Weathersby v. State**, 919 So.2d 1146, 1149-50 (¶ 12-20)(Ct.App.Miss. 2005), an appeal from a conviction of fondling brought under Miss.Code Ann. §97-5-23(1). It is unnecessary to repeat those standards here which we rely upon by reference thereto as articulated in

Weathersby.

It is enough to say that the verdict returned in this case is not "... so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that to allow it to stand would sanction an unconscionable injustice." Weighing, as this Court is invited to do, the evidence in the light most favorable to the verdict, it is clear the testimony and evidence fails to preponderate in favor of Sheffield and that the State produced enough credible evidence to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that Sheffield touched his daughter for lustful purposes. Indeed, there can be no question about it.

Our retort to any claim of inconsistencies in the testimony of the victim and her witnesses is found in **Collier v. State**, *supra*, 711 So.2d 458, 462 (Miss. 1998), where the same argument was made and rejected.

"We are asked to reverse this case on the grounds that there are inconsistencies and contradictions in her testimony. If this be true, it would still be a question for the jury." *Blade*, 240 Miss. at 188, 126 So.2d at 280; *e.g. Allman*, 571 So.2d at 253. In the instant case, any inconsistencies found in C.H.'s testimony go [to] the weight and credibility of her testimony, clearly a jury question. In addition, C.H.'s testimony was not at all inconsistent on the issue at the heart of this matter - Collier's fondling of her. This contention is without merit.

Lest we forget, "[t]he jury has the duty to determine the impeachment value of inconsistencies or contradictions as well as testimonial defects of *perception, memory* and sincerity." Jones v. State, *supra*, 381 So.2d 983, 989 (Miss. 1990). *See also* Blocker v. State, 809 So.2d 640, 644-45 (Miss. 2002); Hill v. State, 199 Miss. 254, 24 So.2d 737 (1946), and Collier v. State, *supra*, 711 So.2d 458, 462-63 (Miss.1998) [Any inconsistencies and contradictions found in testimony of child witness went to "... the weight and credibility of her testimony, clearly a jury question."].

In short, "impeachment value" is a question for the jury and not for a trial judge called upon during trial to address the matter of legal evidentiary sufficiency.

In the case at bar, unlawful fondling was established by the victim's testimony alone. The following language found in **Crawford v. State**, *supra*, 754 So.2d 1211, 1222 (Miss. 2000), is *apropos* to the facts presented here:

"[O]ur case law clearly holds that the unsupported word of the victim of a sex crime is sufficient to support a guilty verdict where that testimony is not discredited or contradicted by other credible evidence, especially if the conduct of the victim is consistent with the conduct of one who has been victimized by a sex crime." [numerous citations omitted]

Breanna's testimony was not discredited; rather, it was entirely consistent with the conduct of one victimized by a sex crime. *See also* **McDonald v. State**, 816 So.2d 1032 (Ct.App.Miss. 2002). Moreover, it was corroborated by the testimony of her three friends.

Once again, our position on this issue can be summarized in only three (3) words: "classic jury issue." A reasonable and fair-minded juror could have found Sheffield guilty of fondling and not simply lawful fatherly affection.

Of course, "[i]n any jury trial, the jury is the arbiter of the weight and credibility of a witness' testimony, [and] [t]his Court will not set aside a conviction without concluding that the evidence, taken in the most favorable light, could not have supported a reasonable juror's conclusion that the defendant was guilty beyond a reasonable doubt." **Rainer v. State**, 473 So.2d 172, 173 (Miss. 1985).

The law applicable to the disposition of this issue is stated in Kelly v. State, 910 So.2d 535,

540 (Miss. 2005), as follows:

We have routinely held that the jury is the judge of credibility. Schuck v. State, 865 So.2d 1111, 1124 (Miss. 2003); Harris v. State, 527 So.2d 647, 649 (Miss. 1988). This court will not set aside a guilty verdict, absent other error, unless it is clearly a result of prejudice, bias, fraud, or is manifestly against the weight of credible evidence. Drake v. State, 800 So.2d 508, 517 (Miss. 2001) (citing Maiben v. State, 405 So.2d 87, 88 (Miss. 1981). Further, it is within the sound discretion of the jury to accept or reject the testimony of a witness, and the jury "may give considerations to all inferences flowing from the testimony." Mangum v. State, 762 So.2d 337, 342 (Miss. 2000) (quoting Grooms v. State, 357 So.2d 292, 295 (Miss. 1978)).

"[T]he scope of review on this issue is limited in that all evidence must be construed, i.e.,

"weighed," in the light most favorable to the verdict." Herring v. State, 691 So.2d at 957 citing

Mitchell v. State, 572 So.2d 865, 867 (Miss. 1990). See also Bush v. State, 895 So.2d 836, 844

(Miss. 2005), citing Herring v. State, supra.

Contrary to Sheffield's position, this is not a case where the evidence preponderates heavily

against the verdict, or where allowing the verdict to stand would sanction or amount to an unconscionable injustice.

In Maiben v. State, 405 So.2d 87, 88 (Miss. 1981), this Court announced that

..... we will not set aside a guilty verdict, absent other error, unless it is clearly a result of prejudice, bias or fraud, or is manifestly against the weight of credible evidence. [emphasis supplied]

The following observations made in Groseclose v. State, 440 So.2d 297, 300 (Miss. 1983),

are also worth repeating here:

We will not order a new trial unless convinced that the verdict is so contrary to the overwhelming weight of the evidence that, to allow it to stand, **would be to sanction an unconscionable injustice**. *Pearson v. State*, 428 So.2d 1361, 1364 (Miss. 1983). Any less stringent rule would denigrate the constitutional power and responsibility of the jury in our criminal justice system. [emphasis

supplied]

In short, this Court will not set aside a guilty verdict unless the verdict is manifestly against the weight of credible evidence [Maiben v. State, *supra*, 405 So.2d 87, 88 (Miss. 1981)] and unless this Court is convinced that to allow the verdict to stand, would be to sanction an unconscionable injustice. Groseclose v. State, *supra*, 440 So.2d 297, 300 (Miss. 1983).

Contrary to Sheffield's position, the case at bar does not exist in this posture.

We respectfully submit, for the reasons stated, the evidence was sufficient to demonstrate the elements of the crime charged within the meaning and purview of our statute, Miss. Code Ann. §97-5-23(1). The verdict of the jury was not against the overwhelming weight of the evidence. Accordingly, the trial court did not abuse its judicial discretion in overruling Sheffield's motion for a new trial.

CONCLUSION

Sheffield, who was well represented by two competent and effective attorneys, presents a legitimate complaint. Nevertheless, scrutiny of the official record reflects the claims presented for appellate scrutiny are devoid of merit.

Appellee respectfully submits that no reversible error took place during the trial of this cause. Accordingly, the judgment of conviction for fondling together with the fifteen (15) year sentence with five (5) years suspended and ten (10) years to serve imposed by the trial judge, should be forthwith affirmed.